
Civic Centre, Windmill Street, Gravesend Kent DA12 1AU

South Thames Gateway 
Building Control Joint 

Committee

Members of the South Thames Gateway Building Control Joint Committee of Gravesham 
Borough Council are summoned to attend a meeting to be held at the Usually held at the Civic 
Centre in Gravesend on Thursday, 16 March 2017 at 10.00 am when the business specified in 
the following agenda is proposed to be transacted.

S Kilkie
Assistant Director (Communities)

Agenda

Part A
Items likely to be considered in Public

1. Apologies for absence 

2. Minutes (Pages 3 - 6)

3. Declarations of Interest 

4. To consider whether any items in Part A of the agenda should be 
considered in private or any items in Part B in public 

5. Report on the Mid-Kent Audit of the STG Building Control Partnership 
carried out on behalf of Swale BC 

(Pages 7 - 30)

6. Schedule of STG Joint Committee meetings 2017/18 (Pages 31 - 32)

7. Interim report on progress towards expansion of the STG Building Control 
partnership 

(Pages 33 - 36)

8. Any other business which by reason of special circumstances the 
Chairman is of the opinion should be considered as a matter of urgency. 

Public Document Pack



9. Exclusion 
To move, if required, that pursuant to Section 100A (4) of the Local 
Government Act 1972 that the public be excluded from any items 
included in Part B of the agenda because it is likely in view of the nature 
of business to be transacted that if members of the public are present 
during those items, there would be disclosure to them of exempt 
information as defined in Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Act.
 

Part B 
Items likely to be considered in Private

10.Monitoring Report Nov 2016-Jan 2017 (Pages 37 - 56)

Members

Councillors: John Cubitt (Chair)
Jane Chitty
Gerald Lewin

Substitutes: Robin Theobald
David Carr
Bryan Mulhern



1

South Thames Gateway Building Control Joint Committee

Thursday, 8 December 2016 10.00 am

Present:

Councillors: Jane Chitty, Medway Council (Vice-Chair in the Chair)
Gerry Lewin, Swale Borough Council
Robin Theobald, Gravesham Borough Council (Sub)

In Attedance:

Tony Van Veghel Director, South Thames Gateway Building Control Partnership
Sharah Kilkie Assistant Director (Communities), Gravesham Borough Council
James Freeman Head of Planning Services, Swale Borough Council
Janine Boughton Head of Administration & Business Development, South Thames 

Gateway Building Control Partnership
Andrew Barnett Principal Accountant, Gravesham Borough Council
Sarah Arding Committee Services Officer, Gravesham Borough Council

20. Apologies 

Apologies for absence were received from Cllr John Cubitt (Chair), Gravesham Borough 
Council and Cllr Robin Theobald attended as his appointed substitute.

The Vice Chair, on behalf of the Board, expressed a wish to send Councillor Cubitt the 
Board’s very best wishes for a speedy recovery.

Apologies for absence were also received from Tomasz Kozlowski, Assistant Director
Physical & Cultural Regeneration, Medway Council and Andrew Lawson, Finance Business 
Partner, Medway Council.

21. Minutes 

The Minutes of the meeting held on 22 September 2016 were agreed as a correct record 
and signed by the Chair.

22. Renewal of STG Partnership for a 3rd Term 

The Director (STG) presented the Committee with a report highlighting some of the 
achievements of the Partnership during the second term (from 1 October 2012) to inform the 
decisions required of the three authorities to agree a third term from 1 October 2017 or exit 
the agreement.

A particular aim of the Partnership was to build resilience into the service which had been 
demonstrably achieved, operating successfully though the economic downturn and slow 
recovery.  During the second term the Partnership had focused on improvements to service 
delivery achieved through the adoption of a new IT system and the consequent development 
of agile and mobile working.  A third income stream to augment the building regulation and 

Page 3 Agenda Item 2



South Thames Gateway Building Control Joint Committee 8.12.2016

2

public protection services had been introduced by developing a consultancy to deliver 
complementary services to the construction industry.

The focus for the next 5 years will be on putting the customer at the heart of the working of 
the Partnership, driving up performance through improved use of technology and continued 
investment in staff training and development to deliver a value for money service to all 
partner authorities.

Resolved that Members recommend to Gravesham, Medway and Swale Councils that the 
South Thames Gateway Building Control Partnership continues for a third term from 1 
October 2017 and requests that the Director of the Partnership, in consultation with the 
Officer Steering Group, submit reports to the respective authorities together with the 
Business Plan 2017/20 incorporating the financial plan up to 2020.

23. Exclusion 

Resolved that the public be excluded from the following item of business since it contained 
exempt information as defined in Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972.

24. STG Business Plan 2017-2020 

The Joint Committee was presented with a report detailing the proposals for the South 
Thames Gateway Building Control Draft Business Plan and Delivery Plan 2017-2010 
prepared following consultation with partner authorities.

The Plan details four agreed objectives:

 Meet customer needs
 Maximise technology to reduce cost and improve delivery
 Improve the way we work
 Value, support and develop staff

The Director outlined the key projects for 2017/18 aimed at delivering a first class service to 
customers and stakeholders.

Board Members asked that the % contribution from partner authorities be reviewed to ensure 
a continuing fair and equitable balance. The Director (STG) advised that the original 
contributions were based on population and hereditaments and proposed that a review 
during preparations for a third term of the partnership would be the best approach. 

Resolved that The Joint Committee approves the updated version of the Draft 
Business plan for submission to the Cabinet of each partner authority 
to approve the Final Draft Business Plan.

The Joint Committee asked that the % financial contribution figures be 
reviewed prior to any entry into a third term of the partnership.

25. Monitoring Report August to October 2016 

The South Thames Gateway Building Control Partnership Monitoring Report (August to 
October 2016) was presented to the Committee.  

Page 4



South Thames Gateway Building Control Joint Committee 8.12.2016

3

The Director advised Members of the progress made with Canterbury City Council which fell 
outside the monitoring period but had significant implications.  The previous problems 
encountered which had prevented progress in 2015 had now been resolved.  The Director 
had been informed that Canterbury City Council’s Chief Executive and Members supported 
joining the Partnership.  Due diligence tests were needed in respect of legal, finance, IT and 
operations but it was highly probable that the Partnership would be extended in 2017 
resulting in reduced contributions for current partnership authorities.

Members of the Committee asked the Director for further clarification regarding the problems 
with the new website and online payments.  The Director reported that the proposed online 
payment module now required extra work and consequent additional payment for full 
development.  As this was not within the current year’s budget the Director considered it an 
unacceptable pressure and had put developments on hold.  However, if the work was 
progressed he would try to mitigate any financial pressures and report back to the 
Committee.  Members expressed their concern at the inability of clients to submit plans and 
pay for the service at the same time and considered that the development of online 
payments at the time of submission of plans should be progressed.  It was further 
considered that this work was likely to provide savings in the future and the cost would 
therefore be recovered.

Resolved that The Joint Committee noted the report including the possible admission 
of Canterbury City Council into the South Thames Gateway Building 
Control.

The Joint Committee requested the Director to progress the 
development of the website to enable online payments at the time of 
submission and report any consequent financial shortfall and 
mitigation achieved at the end of the financial year.

Close of meeting 

The meeting ended at 10.53am

Page 5



This page is intentionally left blank



SOUTH THAMES GATEWAY BUILDING CONTROL           
JOINT COMMITTEE

 16 March 2017

SOUTH THAMES GATEWAY BUILDING CONTROL
 Swale Borough Council Audit Report December 2016

Report from:  James Freeman, Head of Planning, Swale Borough Council

Summary

To note the outcome of the Audit Review of the South Thames Gateway 
Building Control Partnership undertaken by Swale Borough Council and to 
review progress on the recommended areas to improve 

1.  Background

1.1. Appendix I attaches an Audit Report on the South Thames Gateway Building 
Control partnership on behalf of Swale Borough Council.

1.2. The Audit was carried out during October and November 2016.  The 
Assurance Rating was found to be ‘SOUND’, the second highest available 
rating.

1.3. An update on the Action Plan will be verbally presented at the meeting. 

2. Swale Head of Planning and Director’s comments

2.1. The purpose of this report is to highlight the high standard of service 
delivered to users of the service whilst being able to maintain year on year 
savings since its initiation in October 2007 and to acknowledge areas to 
improve, noting some areas are specific to Swale Council.

3. Financial Implications

3.1. There are no direct financial implications arising from the Audit Review

4. Legal Implications

4.1. There are no direct legal implications arising from the Audit Review

5. Risk Management

5.1. None identified at this stage.

Page 7 Agenda Item 5



6. Recommendations

6.1. To note the outcome of the Audit review and to review progress on the 
recommended areas to improve.

7. Suggested Reasons for Decisions

7.1. To ensure the Shared Building Control Service is operating efficiently and 
effectively in meeting its local authority partners aspirations and ensuring a 
customer focussed service.

Lead officer contact

James Freeman – Head of Planning, Swale \Borough Council

Background Papers: 

None.

Page 8



MID KENT AUDIT 
   
 

 

 

 

 

BUILDING CONTROL PARTNERSHIP 

 

 FINAL AUDIT REPORT 

January 2017 

 

Final Assurance Rating: Sound 

 
Audit Code SBC-OR01 (16-17)  Service Planning Services 

Auditor David Griffiths  Audit Sponsor James Freeman 

Audit Manager Frankie Smith  Director Emma Wiggins 

(Interim) 

 

 
     

Page 9



MID KENT AUDIT 
 

2 

 

Summary Report 

We conclude based on our audit work that there are Sound controls in place to ensure the 

Council can adequately monitor operation of the South Thames Gateway Partnership. We 

provide the definitions of our assurance ratings at appendix II.  

We found the Council applies good governance procedures including regular and well 

attended meetings of the Joint Committee and Steering Group.  We also found good 

arrangements in place for following up reports of potential dangerous structures, although 

there are improvements possible in retained evidence.  We also identified a need to 

improve clarity and reporting to the partner Councils over the practice of offering fee 

variations to customers of the Partnership. 

 

Notable practice identified Areas to improve 

 High standards of service delivered 

to users of the service while still 

achieving financial savings to 

partners. 

 Partnership governance 

arrangements. 

 

 Obtain a signed copy of the Memorandum 

of Understanding. 

 Documenting and management review of 

variations to fees.  

 Photograph all dangerous structure 

inspections. 

 

Next Steps 

From page 7 we describe the 8 recommendations arising from our work. The 

recommendations will form a discussion culminating in a management response to each 

priority rated recommendation. 

We have prioritised our recommendations as follows below: 

Priority 1 (Critical) Priority 2 (High) Priority 3 (Med) Priority 4 (Low) Advisory 

0 0 5 3 0 

We provide the definition of our recommendation priorities at appendix II. 

  

Page 10



MID KENT AUDIT 
 

3 

 

Findings in Context 

We last undertook a review of this service in 2012. We concluded at the time that controls 

in place at the time offered a substantial level of assurance. Although we have changed the 

way in which we report ratings, meaning the results are not directly comparable, we 

consider that the assurance offered by controls has been maintained. 

Independence 

We are required by Public Sector Internal Audit Standard 1100 to act at all times with 

independence and objectivity.  Where there are any threats, in fact or appearance, to that 

independence we must disclose the nature of the threat and set out how it has been 

managed in completing our work. 

The auditor who undertook the review is currently a customer of the Building Control 

Partnership.  His case was excluded from the population we drew the sample from and his 

work has been subject to review in line with our usual processes.  We discussed and agreed 

this approach with the service before commencing the work. 

We have no other matters to report. 

Acknowledgements 

We would like to express our thanks to Janine Boughton – Head of Administration, James 

Freeman – Head of Planning, Tony Van Veghel - Director of South Thames Gateway Building 

Control Partnership who assisted with the completion of this work.  

 

Audit team and contact details Report distribution list 

Head of Audit Partnership 

Rich Clarke  

(Rich.Clarke@MidKent.gov.uk) 

 

Audit Manager  

Frankie Smith 

(Frankie.Smith @MidKent.gov.uk) 

 

Auditor 

David Griffiths 

(David.Griffiths@MidKent.gov.uk)  

Draft and final report 

James Freeman – Head of Planning 

 

Final report only 

Emma Wiggins – Interim Director of 

Regeneration 

Abdool Kara – Chief Executive 

Nick Vickers – Head of Finance 

 

Page 11

mailto:Rich.Clarke@MidKent.gov.uk
mailto:alison.blake@midkent.gov.uk
mailto:David.Griffiths@MidKent.gov.uk


MID KENT AUDIT 
 

4 

 

Detailed Findings 

We completed fieldwork during October and November 2016 to the agreed audit objectives, 

and using the tests set out in the final audit brief dated 12 October 2016. We include the 

audit brief at appendix I.  

We present the brief as originally agreed since we completed this review, although the 

timeline was extended slightly. We again thank the service for support provided to enable 

efficient completion of our work. 

Objective 1: To revisit the Partnership governance arrangements 

and to assess the impact of any changes to those arrangements 

since the last audit review. 

Test 1: To ensure that there is a partnership agreement in place between all parties.  

Our testing established that there is a Memorandum of Understanding in place which has 

been approved by all members of the partnership. 

Test2: To confirm that the Council has a designated Lead Officer who is the key point of 

contact between the Council and the Building Control Partnership. 

Our review identified that the Head of Planning has been designated the role of Lead 

Officer, and as such is the key point of contact between the Council and the Partnership.  

Test3: Governance and monitoring arrangements for the Building Control partnership 

should be suitably detailed. 

The Governance arrangements for the Partnership are suitably detailed within the 

Memorandum of Understanding for the Partnership. 

Conclusion: We conclude as a result of our testing, that there are suitable governance 

arrangements for the Partnership and that those arrangements are detailed within the 

Memorandum of Understanding for the Partnership.  

 
 

Page 12



MID KENT AUDIT 
   
 

 

 

Objective 2: Review and assessment of contract monitoring 

arrangements to include but not limited to partnership board 

attendance and reporting, performance targets, contractor 

meetings and complaints. 

The table below sets out the controls considered during the review over the effectiveness of 

contract monitoring, attendance at meetings, and performance targets. 

Controls tested Findings 

Access to the Memorandum 

of Understanding. 

Unsatisfactory 

The Head of Planning as designated Lead Officer does not 

hold a signed copy of the Memorandum of Understanding 

for the Partnership. R1 

Clearly documented 

meetings arrangements 

Satisfactory 

 

Meetings take place as per 

MOU 

Satisfactory 

Our review of meeting minutes confirms that meetings of 

the Joint Committee are regularly attended by the Swale 

member representative. Similarly the Swale Lead Officer 

regularly attends meetings of the Steering Committee.  

Performance and service 

standards should be suitably 

detailed. 

Satisfactory but could be improved 

Performance Indicators for the Partnership have been set by 

Management Team, and agreed by the Joint Committee and 

Steering Group.  The Lead Officer confirmed that he is happy 

with the levels of performance being achieved. 

Review of performance against the agreed standards 

identified that some indicators consistently exceed targets, 

suggesting that those targets provide insufficient challenge 

to support continuing service development.  Conversely, 

other indicators consistently underperform.  Taken together, 

these findings suggest the current indicator set is not used 

to actually monitor performance, and so the council should 

consider a review leading to, if appropriate, adoption of a 

new set of indicators and/or targets.  R5  

Page 13



MID KENT AUDIT 
 

2 

 

Controls tested Findings 

Performance of the 

partnership should be 

suitably reported. 

Satisfactory 

Our testing identified that performance is being suitably  

reported monthly to the Partnership Management Team, 

and quarterly to the Steering Group and Joint Committee.  

Complaints from customers 

should be suitably 

investigated and reported.  

Satisfactory 

We found suitable procedures in place for investigating and 

reporting complaints and reporting to Lead Officers.  

The Partnership should 

produce a business plan for 

approval by all 3 partners at 

regular intervals. 

Satisfactory 

The Partnership produces a rolling 3 year business plan 

supported by a delivery plan presented to each partner 

authority for approval each year. 

The risks to the Council from 

being in the Partnership or 

the withdrawal of a partner 

should be documented and 

considered. 

Unsatisfactory 

The perceived risks to the Council are considered to be 

lower as a result of being in the partnership. However some 

risks to the Council remain evident despite being in the 

Partnership, our testing identified that those risks are not 

currently documented. R6 

 

R1: Signed Memorandum of Understanding Priority 3: Medium 

Obtain a signed copy of the Memorandum of Understanding for the Partnership 

 

R5: Review performance indicators Priority 4: Low 

Review and update performance indicators and targets. 

 

R7: Risk Management Priority 4: Low 

Identify and evaluate the risks to the Council arising from being in the STG partnership. 

 

Conclusion: We conclude as a result of our testing that good governance arrangements are 

in place to ensure sound management of the Partnership.  

Page 14



MID KENT AUDIT 
 

3 

 

Objective 3: To confirm that the Council is making the correct 
contract payments to STG. 

Each partner must contribute an agreed percentage of the partnership’s annual non-fee 

earning service costs.  Each partner contribution is based on the number of residential and 

commercial properties in each borough.  Swale is liable for 27% of the total costs.  Swale’s 

contribution for 2016/17 is £75,080. 

Audit testing on SBC partnership contributions confirms that; 

 the invoices for contributions have been correctly raised for the amounts approved 

in the Business Plan for 2016/17, 

 all payments to the Partnership from the Council were correct and authorised, 

 all payments due to the Partnership were up-to-date. 

Conclusion: Partnership contributions have been correctly calculated by the partnership and 

paid by the Council.  

  

Page 15



MID KENT AUDIT 
 

4 

 

Objective 4: To determine whether the Council’s statutory 
obligations are being satisfied through the Partnership, and 
confirmation that these cases are being dealt within accordance 
with agreed procedures and timescales. 

Test 1: To confirm that the fees for building control services provided by the partnership 

are appropriately approved. 

Our testing has established that the Director of the Partnership has been given delegated 

authority by the Joint Committee to review and update the building control fees as 

necessary.  The current building control fees came into effect on 01 January 2016. 

Test 2: To ensure that the fees charged for the building control service are published and 

readily available to users of the service. 

The current building control fees are published on the STG website and information on the 

current fees is available from the customer services teams / reception at Swale House if 

required. 

Test 3: to Ensure that the correct fee is charged for all building control work undertaken. 

The Partnership consider the ongoing review of fees on an application by application basis 

necessary towards ensuring that the fees charged by the Partnership achieve the correct 

balance between remaining competitive in a commercial market, and achieving ongoing 

savings..  

We obtained a report detailing all applications recorded on the system for the period 01 

January 2016 to 30 September 2016 to select a sample for testing. We selected 15 from a 

population of 448 applications. We identified variations to published fees in 4 of the 15 

applications tested resulting in reductions in the region of £800 being applied across the 4 

cases where reductions to fees were applied.. Current procedures for processing 

applications dictate that officers are required to obtain verbal approval from the Head of 

Administration only for variations to fees with no note being added to record who granted 

approval to vary the fee. We also identified that no sample checks are undertaken on 

applications by management to confirm that variations to fees are being consistently 

applied to applications.  It is not clear to us, therefore, how the service is controlling against 

the risk of building control officers inappropriately charging discounted fees.  This practice 

could, if not controlled, increase the risk of actual or perceived corruption. R2 R2  & R4 

Furthermore, there was no clear guidance on how fee discounts are monitored or recorded 

so that their impact on income projections can be monitored.  If our sample is reflective of 

Page 16



MID KENT AUDIT 
 

5 

 

the population and around 25% of engagements result in recovering less than the list fee, 

that may have a significant bearing on the ability of the Partnership to achieve its financial 

objectives. 

Finally, there is no guidance within the service on minimum or ‘cost price’ for services.  

Although the financial projection to recover costs is based on the service as a whole rather 

than specific jobs, there is a risk if discounts are persistently offered at below cost price that 

the Partnership will need to increase rather than reduce the contributions required from 

partner councils. 

R2: Record all variations to published fees Priority 3: Medium 

Record on each application the name of the officer that has approved a variation to the 

published fee. 

 

R3: Review all variations to published fees Priority 3: Medium 

Undertake sample checks to ensure that variations to fees are being consistently applied. 

 

R4: Report on variations to published fees   Priority 3: Medium 

Report to Management Team the volume and cost of variations to published fees. 

 

Test 4: The services provided by the Consultancy service together with income received 

should be in line with the business plan. 

Our testing confirms that the services currently provided by, and income received from the 

consultancy service are in currently accordance with the business plan. 

Test 5: The process for reporting dangerous structures should be well publicised on the 

Councils website. 

We searched the SBC website and did not find any reference to procedures for reporting 

dangerous structures. It does however provide a link to the STG Partnership website which 

then gives details on how to report dangerous structures. R8 

R8: Publish dangerous structure reporting procedures Priority 4: Low 

Publish dangerous structure reporting procedures. 

 

  

Page 17



MID KENT AUDIT 
 

6 

 

Test 6: All reports of dangerous structures should be suitably investigated with the 

findings being documented. 

From a total population of 21 dangerous structure incidents we selected a sample of 7 for 

testing. Out review established that all incidents reported been initially visited by officers 

within a suitable timescale with a suitable outcome being achieved in all the cases reviewed. 

All officers are Officers undertaking inspections of dangerous structures have been issued 

devices to enable them to take photographs to evidence their findings on site. However our 

review of case files identified that officers had taken photographs to evidence their findings 

in only 4 of the 7 cases reviewed. This is particularly important to evidence the condition of 

a structure at the time the officer undertook their inspection of a structure which was 

reported as dangerous. R5 

R5: Evidence collection and retention Priority 3: Medium 

Upload possible and actual dangerous structure site photos to case files. 

 

Conclusion: Fees charged are being properly approved and publicised. However 

authorisation for variations to published fees are not being evidenced and there are no 

checks in place to confirm that variations to fees are being consistently applied to 

applications. All reports tested of dangerous structures were inspected within suitable 

timescales by officers, however photographs are not consistently being taken to evidence 

findings when inspecting reports of dangerous structures. 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Page 18



MID KENT AUDIT 
 

7 

 

SBC-OR01: Building Control - Recommendations and Action Plan 
 

R1: Signed Memorandum of Understanding Priority 3: Medium 

Obtain a signed copy of the Memorandum of Understanding for the Partnership 

 

This will ensure that the Council has access to a version of the Memorandum of 

Understanding which the Council is required to comply with. 

Management Response 

JF (HoPS) to obtain a signed copy of the partnership agreement.   

Responsible officer: 

James Freeman (Head of Planning) 

Responsible officer: 

James Freeman (Head of Planning) 

 
 

R2: Record all variations to published fees Priority 3 Medium 

Record on each application the name of the officer that has approved a variation to the 

published fee. 

This will enable management to review and compare variations to published fees and then 

ensure that variations are being consistently applied. 

Management Response 

This recommendation is based on test 3 on page 4 of the report which relates to the correct 

fee being charged for building control work which is undertaken. Whilst acknowledging 

there has to be a balance between competitiveness in the commercial market and 

achieving ongoing savings, there is concern that the auditor may not have had the charges 

legislation fully explained to him. 

Under regulation 7 of the Building (Local Authority Charges ) Regulations 2010 the local 

authority has to follow a process for determining fees and has to apply a set of factors 

which are listed in the regulations.  

It is  noted that the auditor identified variations in fee quotes against published standard 

fees of around 25%  in the test sample. This should not be seen as unusual as regulation 7 

indicates these factors which can be taken into account when determining fees and 

regulation 8 specifically allows for a determination of an  individual application fee where 

there are various work types , e.g. extension, internal alterations and a loft conversion , 

being carried out at one property and the owner or agent has requested this to be taken 

Page 19



MID KENT AUDIT 
 

8 

 

into account. In which case a standard charge or a number of standard charges would not 

be aggregated together but based on an individually determined fee. 

In order for the service   to remain competitive we have to give a speedy response to 

telephone enquiries and any delay in responding for example to get authorisation from a 

senior officer can lose us work. 

All staff have been trained on the charges legislation and estimating fees and need to have 

the authority and responsibility to give quotes on certain work types. Most phone call 

quote requests are for domestic work, often ready to start and we cannot afford to delay 

response otherwise the work will go to Approved Inspectors.  

It should be noted that an estimate of the charge given over the phone is not binding until 

the application is made and the full works assessed. There are often instances when the 

application is re-assessed on submission and found to contain other works which were not 

included in the original quote. It is only when the application is validated that the officer 

concerned agrees the fee and any queries would be raised with the head of administration 

at that time. The officer concerned can be identified as they are recorded on the 

application file. Technical administrators have been reminded to advise clients that the fee 

will be re-assessed on submission when the full extent of the works can be determined, just 

in case there are any variances. As all of our telephone calls are recorded, where any 

subsequent fee related query comes in , management can replay the original phone call to 

determine what information was given and what the response was.  

Responsible officer: 

Tony Vanveghel (Director of Operations) 

Implementation date: 

Refresher training on charges legislation 

by end February 2017 

 

 

  

Page 20



MID KENT AUDIT 
 

9 

 

R3: Review all variations to published fees Priority 3 Medium 

Undertake sample checks to ensure that variations to fees are being consistently applied. 

 

This will enable management to ensure that variations to published fees are being 

consistently applied so that the Partnership can both remain competitive in an increasingly 

commercial market and at the same time achieve a balanced budget. 

 

Management Response 

This recommendation is based on test 3 on page 4 of the report which relates to the correct 

fee being charged for building control work which is undertaken. Whilst acknowledging 

there has to be a balance between competitiveness in the commercial market and 

achieving ongoing savings, there is concern that the auditor may not have had the charges 

legislation fully explained to him. 

Under regulation 7 of the Building (Local Authority Charges ) Regulations 2010 the local 

authority has to follow a process for determining fees and has to apply a set of factors 

which are listed in the regulations.  

It is  noted that the auditor identified variations in fee quotes against published standard 

fees of around 25%  in the test sample. This should not be seen as unusual as regulation 7 

indicates these factors which can be taken into account when determining fees and 

regulation 8 specifically allows for a determination of an  individual application fee where 

there are various work types , e.g. extension, internal alterations and a loft conversion , 

being carried out at one property and the owner or agent has requested this to be taken 

into account. In which case a standard charge or a number of standard charges would not 

be aggregated together but based on an individually determined fee. 

In order for the service   to remain competitive we have to give a speedy response to 

telephone enquiries and any delay in responding for example to get authorisation from a 

senior officer can lose us work. 

All staff have been trained on the charges legislation and estimating fees and need to have 

the authority and responsibility to give quotes on certain work types. Most phone call 

quote requests are for domestic work, often ready to start and we cannot afford to delay 

response otherwise the work will go to Approved Inspectors.  

It should be noted that an estimate of the charge given over the phone is not binding until 

the application is made and the full works assessed. There are often instances when the 

application is re-assessed on submission and found to contain other works which were not 

included in the original quote. It is only when the application is validated that the officer 

Page 21



MID KENT AUDIT 
 

10 

 

concerned agrees the fee and any queries would be raised with the head of administration 

at that time. The officer concerned can be identified as they are recorded on the 

application file. Technical administrators have been reminded to advise clients that the fee 

will be re-assessed on submission when the full extent of the works can be determined, just 

in case there are any variances. As all of our telephone calls are recorded, where any 

subsequent fee related query comes in , management can replay the original phone call to 

determine what information was given and what the response was.  

Responsible officer: 

Tony Vanveghel (Director of Operations) 

Implementation date: 

Refresher training on charges legislation 

by end February 2017 

 

 

R4: Report on variations to published fees   Priority 3: Medium 

Report to Management Team the volume and cost of variations to published fees. 

This will allow Management Team to fully review the impact of variations to published fees 

and identify where changes may need to be made to published fees in order to reduce the 

ongoing requirement for variations. 

Management Response 

R4  looks at a report going to management team to show the volume and cost of variations 

to published fees and relates back to where fees are below any standard charge rates .   As  

noted  above the service operates under legislation that was designed to give local 

Authorities this flexibility rather than the Prescribed fees of the previous legislation. A 

comparison of actual income against perceived standard rates would not be practical and 

would not give the information the auditor seeks because if we applied standard charges to 

everything we would not win the work, losing both market share and income and would 

greatly increase the likelihood of contributions being increased.  

It is suggested  that it may be more beneficial to report our work on the determination of 

charging rates for the following financial year, based on the CIPFA guidance, to the steering 

group so that forecasts in line with the charges legislation can be examined. 

Responsible officer: 

Tony Vanveghel (Director of  Operations) 

 

Implementation date: 

Report to Steering Group by may 2017 

 
 

Page 22



MID KENT AUDIT 
 

11 

 

R5: Evidence collection and retention Priority 3 Medium 

Take photographs at all visits of possible and actual dangerous structures.  

 

By making use of equipment already issued to officers, they will be able to ensure that 

photographic evidence is available to document their findings at visits to actual and 

possible dangerous structures.   

Management Response 

This makes a valid point in ensuring photographs are included in each dangerous structure 

report, so that there is clear evidence of the initial status, monitoring and final outcome of 

a dangerous structure inspection. Included in this must be a photograph of the structure 

when the file was closed, so that if the service is challenged, it can prove the condition of 

the structure at the time of inspection. 

Responsible officer: 

Tony Vanveghel (Director of Operations) 

Responsible officer: 

Tony Vanveghel (Director of Operations) 

 

R6: Review performance indicators Priority 4: Low 

Review performance indicators to ensure that they remain challenging yet achievable. 

 

This will enable management and the Joint Committee to better evaluate levels of 

performance being achieved by the Partnership. 

Management Response 

This relates to performance indicators and a review to ensure steering group and joint 

Committee can properly evaluate levels of performance. Performance indicators are 

reported at each Joint Committee through the quarterly monitoring reports as well as being 

examined prior to that by Steering group. They have been amended in the past where 

officers or Members have asked them to be more challenging. 

Discussions to take place at Steering Group and Joint Committee to consider whether the 

PI’s should be reviewed. 

Responsible officer: 

Tony Vanveghel (Director of Operations) 

Responsible officer: 

Tony Vanveghel (Director of Operations) 

 

 

 

Page 23



MID KENT AUDIT 
 

12 

 

R7: Risk Management Priority 4: Low 

Identify, assess and document the risks to the Council arising from being in the STG 

partnership. 

 

This will enable the Council to better assess and monitor the risks associated with the 

building control partnership. 

Management Response 

To be included as part of Service Plan preparation 

Responsible officer: 

James Freeman (Head of Planning) 

Responsible officer: 

James Freeman (Head of Planning) 

 

R8: Publish dangerous structure reporting procedures Priority 4: Low 

Publish dangerous structure reporting procedures. 

 

The implementation of this recommendation will give more information to members of the 

public on the procedures and contact details for reporting a potentially dangerous 

structure. 

Management Response 

A link will be provided to the STGBCP website setting out reporting procedures for 

dangerous structures and contact details. 

Responsible officer: 

Janine Broughton (Administration, 

Consultancy&  Business Development 

Manager) 

 

Responsible officer: 

Janine Broughton (Administration, 

Consultancy&  Business Development 

Manager) 

 

 

 

  

Page 24



MID KENT AUDIT 
 

13 

 

Appendix I: Audit Brief 

About the Service 

Building Control is statutory service which provides an advisory and enforcement function 

which ensures that the construction of new buildings, and alterations to existing buildings, 

are completed in accordance with the health, safety and convenience of the people in and 

around the buildings.   

The Council’s Building Control service is provided through a partnership between 

Gravesham, Medway and Swale Borough Council’s.  The Partnership, named the South 

Thames Gateway (STG) commenced in October 2007.  The current partnership agreement is 

due to end in December 2016.  The Partnership is hosted by Medway Council, including the 

employment of all staff. 

The annual cost of the Partnership for 2016/17 after allowing for income is estimated to be 

£278k, of which Swale Borough Council contributes £75,080 (27%) towards this cost. 

 
The current three year Business Plan for the partnership incorporates important changes to 

the partnerships structure to reflect a changing market and greater customer expectations. 

 

About the Audit 

This audit will focus on the contract monitoring arrangements which the Council has in place 

to ensure that the partnership delivers a satisfactory level of service (in accordance with the 

Memorandum of Understanding) to the Council and members of the public. Our findings in 

this review will contribute towards the internal controls aspect of the Head of Audit 

Opinion, to be issued in June 2017. 

The last internal audit review of the Building Control Partnership was completed in 2012/13.  

This audit was awarded a substantial level of assurance. 

 

 

 

Page 25



MID KENT AUDIT 
 

14 

 

Objectives 

1. To revisit the Partnership governance arrangements and to assess the impact of any 

changes to those arrangements since the last audit review 

2. Review and assessment of contract monitoring arrangements to include but not 
limited to partnership board attendance and reporting, performance targets, 
contractor meetings and complaints. 

3. To confirm that the Council is making the correct contract payments to STG. 
4. To determine whether the Council’s statutory obligations are being satisfied through 

the Partnership, and confirmation that these cases are being dealt within accordance 
with agreed procedures and timescales. 

 

Audit Scope 

1.   For the purposes of this review we will be referring to the following documentation; 

 STG Memorandum of Understanding  

 STG Business Plan 

 STG Procedures 

 STG Joint Committee meeting minutes 

 STG Board Papers. 

 

This review will also involve inspection and testing of;  

 Building Control Performance Management information reported to SBC 

 Building Control case files 

 Fees and charges 

 Customer complaints 

 Contract payments. 

Audit Testing 

1. Discussions with key officers to identify changes in the partnership governance 

arrangements since the last internal audit review. 

2. Review of the STG Memorandum of Agreement and current business plan to identify 

and establish agreed service delivery. 

3. Review and assessment of contract monitoring arrangements. 

4. Review of the building control trading account. 

5. High level review of consultancy work and achievement of associated income targets. 

6. Review and analysis of 2015-16 performance indicators against targets agreed in the STG 

MOU. 

Page 26



MID KENT AUDIT 
 

15 

 

7. Testing of a sample of Building Control case files to confirm that cases are dealt with in 

accordance with agreed procedures. 

8. Testing of a sample of complaints received regarding to determine whether the 

complaints have been processed in accordance with the agreed response times. 

9. Confirmation that contract payments are being made in line with the MOU. 

10. Review of reporting arrangements to SBC Members and SMT 

 

 

Audit Resources 

 

Based on the objectives, scope and testing identified we expect this review will require 15 

days of audit resources, broadly divided as follows: 

 

Audit Task Auditors Number of Days (Projected) 

Planning David Griffiths 1 

Fieldwork David Griffiths 7.5 

Reporting David Griffiths 1 

Supervision & Review Frankie Smith .5 

Total  10 

 

  

Page 27



MID KENT AUDIT 
 

16 

 

Audit Timeline 

  03-10: 

Fieldwork 

begins 

 24-11: 

Draft 

report 

 06-01: 

Final 

report 

 

        

 03-10: 

Finalise 

audit 

brief 

 

 14-11: 

Fieldwork 

ends * 

 03-01: 

Closing 

meeting 

  

* The dates for fieldwork and reporting have been extended to account for a delay on a 

previous audit 

Resources required by audit 

Key Contacts 

James Freeman Head of Planning Services 

Tony Van Veghel Director of South Thames Gateway Building 

Control 

Janine Boughton Head of Administration 

 

Documents required 

STG Memorandum of Agreement 

Building Control trading accounts for 2014/15 & 2015/16  

STG Memorandum of Understanding 

STG Business Plan 

STG Procedures 

STG Joint Committee meeting minutes 

STG Board Papers. 

 

 

 

 

Page 28



MID KENT AUDIT 
 

17 

 

Appendix II: Assurance & Priority level definitions 

Assurance Ratings 

 

Strong – Controls within the service are 

well designed and operating as 

intended, exposing the service to no 

uncontrolled risk.  There will also often 

be elements of good practice or value 

for money efficiencies which may be 

instructive to other authorities.  

Reports with this rating will have few, if 

any, recommendations and those will 

generally be priority 4. 

Sound – Controls within the service are 

generally well designed and operated but 

there are some opportunities for 

improvement, particularly with regard to 

efficiency or to address less significant 

uncontrolled operational risks.  Reports 

with this rating will have some priority 3 

and 4 recommendations, and occasionally 

priority 2 recommendations where they do 

not speak to core elements of the service. 

Effective Service
 

Weak – Controls within the service 

have deficiencies in their design and/or 

operation that leave it exposed to 

uncontrolled operational risk and/or 

failure to achieve key service aims.  

Reports with this rating will have 

mainly priority 2 and 3 

recommendations which will often 

describe weaknesses with core 

elements of the service. 

Poor – Controls within the service are 

deficient to the extent that the service is 

exposed to actual failure or significant risk 

and these failures and risks are likely to 

affect the Council as a whole. Reports with 

this rating will have priority 1 and/or a 

range of priority 2 recommendations which, 

taken together, will or are preventing from 

achieving its core objectives. 

In
effective Service

 

 

Page 29



MID KENT AUDIT 
 

18 

 

Recommendation Ratings 

Priority 1 (Critical) – To address a finding which affects (negatively) the risk rating assigned 

to a Council strategic risk or seriously impairs its ability to achieve a key priority.  Priority 1 

recommendations are likely to require immediate remedial action.  Priority 1 

recommendations also describe actions the authority must take without delay. 

Priority 2 (High) – To address a finding which impacts a strategic risk or key priority, which 

makes achievement of the Council’s aims more challenging but not necessarily cause severe 

impediment.  This would also normally be the priority assigned to recommendations that 

address a finding that the Council is in (actual or potential) breach of a legal responsibility, 

unless the consequences of non-compliance are severe. Priority 2 recommendations are 

likely to require remedial action at the next available opportunity, or as soon as is practical.  

Priority 2 recommendations also describe actions the authority must take. 

Priority 3 (Medium) – To address a finding where the Council is in (actual or potential) 

breach of its own policy or a less prominent legal responsibility but does not impact directly 

on a strategic risk or key priority.  There will often be mitigating controls that, at least to 

some extent, limit impact.  Priority 3 recommendations are likely to require remedial action 

within six months to a year.  Priority 3 recommendations describe actions the authority 

should take. 

Priority 4 (Low) – To address a finding where the Council is in (actual or potential) breach of 

its own policy but no legal responsibility and where there is trivial, if any, impact on strategic 

risks or key priorities.  There will usually be mitigating controls to limit impact.  Priority 4 

recommendations are likely to require remedial action within the year.  Priority 4 

recommendations generally describe actions the authority could take. 

Advisory – We will include in the report notes drawn from our experience across the 

partner authorities where the service has opportunities to improve.  These will be included 

for the service to consider and not be subject to formal follow up process. 

 
 

 

Page 30



SOUTH THAMES GATEWAY BUILDING CONTROL JOINT 
COMMITTEE

16 MARCH 2017

SCHEDULE OF MEETINGS 2017/2018

Report from: Sarah Kilkie, Assistant Director (Communities), Gravesham BC 

Summary

This report sets out the proposed meetings schedule for the 2017/2018 municipal 
year.

1. Budget and Policy Framework

1.1 The Constitution for the South Thames Gateway Building Control Joint
Committee specifies that the timetable shall be adopted at the Annual
General Meeting.

2. Background

2.1 Gravesham, Medway and Swale Councils have all agreed to delegate their 
respective building control functions to the Joint Committee. This report 
presents the proposed dates for 2017/18 in advance of the Annual 
General Meeting.

3. Schedule of Meetings

3.1 The Constitution for the South Thames Gateway Building Control Joint 
Committee specifies that the schedule of meetings shall be agreed at the 
Annual General Meeting.

3.2 The Joint Committee is being asked to consider a programme of meetings 
for the 2017/18 municipal year in advance of a decision being made at the 
Annual General Meeting in June 2017, in order to provide some certainty for 
Members, and the Partner Authorities, on the schedule of meetings during 
2017/18.

3.3. The following dates are proposed, with meetings to be held at Medway 
Council; all meetings will commence at 10am.

Thursday 8 June 2017 (AGM) 
Thursday 21 September 2017 
Thursday 7 December 2017 
Thursday 15 March 2018.

Page 31 Agenda Item 6



4 Financial and Legal Implications

5.1 There are no financial implications arising from this report.

6. Legal Implications

6.1 The Joint Committee was established pursuant to powers under: -

Local Government Act 1972 – sections 101, 102, 111, 112 and 113 
Local Government Act 2000 – sections 2, 19 and 20
Regulations made under these acts.

6.2 The arrangements for this joint committee have been designed to 
ensure compliance with the Local Authorities (Functions and
Responsibilities) (England) Regulations 2000 and the Local Authorities 
(Arrangements for the Discharge of Functions) (England) Regulations 
2000, which set out the functions that should be carried out by Council (or 
one of its committee) and functions that can be carried out by the 
Executive. Building control is a function of the Executive or Cabinet and can 
be discharged by the Joint Committee and those functions have been 
delegated by the Partners Authorities’ Executives. By law, two elements of 
the service cannot be executive functions, namely staffing matters and 
enforcement activity by Building Control, and these have been delegated to 
the Joint Committee by the Partner Authorities' respective Full Councils.

7. Risk Management

7.1 There are no risk management implications arising from this report.

8. Recommendations

8.1 The Joint Committee is recommended to –

a) Agree the timetable of meetings for the 2017/2018 municipal year (as 
set out in paragraph 3.3)

b) Agree to select Medway Council to provide a secretary to the Joint 
Committee for the 2017/18 municipal year.

Background Papers: None

Lead Officer Contact:
Chris Wakeford
Committee Services Officer, Gravesham BC
01474 33 72 48
Email: committee.section@gravesham.gov.uk 

Page 32



SOUTH THAMES GATEWAY BUILDING CONTROL           
JOINT COMMITTEE

16 March 2017

SOUTH THAMES GATEWAY BUILDING CONTROL
PARTNERSHIP

UPDATE ON PARTNERSHIP EXPANSION

Report from: Tony Van Veghel, Director, South Thames Gateway 
Building Control Partnership

Summary

An options assessment was carried out by Canterbury City Council in 2013 
regarding the future delivery of their building control service.  The preferred 
option was to join a shared service to benefit from the additional resources, 
resilience and improved customer care this option could provide as well as 
benefitting from a long-term reduction in expenditure.  Whilst some work was 
progressed with STG in 2014, no changes took place at that time; however, 
officers have looked at this again as part of an ongoing service review and 
approached STG in the Summer of 2016 with a view to reconsider the project.  

1. Background

1.1. Following an approach by Canterbury City Council in January 2014 the 
partnership engaged in a project to examine the viability of them joining 
as a fourth partner.  

1.2. A great deal of work was carried out to establish a financial case and 
examine HR, TUPE and operational issues.  However, it became clear 
by December 2014 that there was a disconnect over how the two parties 
saw the operation running and concerning the costs attributed to the 
transfer of staff.  

1.3. From the partnerships perspective one of the precepts of discussions 
was that any expansion would be at zero cost to the partnership and a 
second understanding was that any new partner would join and engage 
with existing policies and procedures at STG.  Given the disparity on 
these points it was decided not to continue with the exercise at that time 
but with an understanding that should these issues be resolved the 
project could be revisited.  

Page 33 Agenda Item 7



2. Directors Comments 

2.1. In July 2016 the Director was contacted by a new Assistant Director at 
Canterbury who wanted to examine the potential of Canterbury joining 
the partnership, stating that she felt the issues which had prevented 
progress in 2014/2015 had either been resolved or were in the process 
of being overcome.  This initial contact and a change in approach was 
reported to Joint Committee at the October meeting and the Director was 
authorised to pursue this potential expansion further. 

2.2. Canterbury required time to take the proposal through their management 
and governance structures and a further meeting was held in November 
2016 which included HR representatives from both parties.  Following an 
exchange of data it was agreed that Canterbury needed to present a 
case to their Members and a subsequent report was drafted for their 
Policy and Resources Committee to consider on the 8th February 2017.  

2.3. The report sought permission to develop a business case for them to join 
the partnership and gave delegated powers for a working group to work 
in collaboration with STG officers to produce a business case to examine 
the potential for expansion.  

2.4. Similarly Joint Committee agreed for the Director and management team 
at STG to carry out due diligence tests and work with Canterbury to 
deliver this investigatory work.  However, this could only be done on the 
firm understanding that it would be no detriment to the existing service 
and no cost to the three existing partners.

2.5. Canterbury’s Policy and Resources Committee agreed the proposals on 
the 8th February 2017 and it was further agreed that the Member 
representative working on this project with officers would be the Leader 
of the Council.

2.6. A detailed data capture sheet was sent to the building control manager 
at Canterbury so that details of workload, fee and non-fee related work 
together with actual income and expenditure against budgeted figures 
could be collected.  When this is returned the finance and operational 
aspects of the project can begin to be profiled.

2.7. The HR representatives have also been sharing data and a staff profile 
is beginning to emerge so that job descriptions, posts and salaries can 
begin to be compared.  

2.8. When officers first met in July 2016 the date put forward for Canterbury 
to join the partnership was given as 1st October 2017.  However, in order 
to ensure the correct governance and monitoring processes were in 
place there has been a substantial delay between July 2016 and 
approval for work to begin the business case in February 2017.  Whilst a 
lot of work was carried out two years ago which can be utilised as an 
advanced starting place for the sub-groups investigations, we are also 
aware that much has also changed in the market place, the back-office 

Page 34



procedures at Canterbury together with the advances that have been 
made at STG in the development of agile and mobile working.  It is 
imperative that early discussions are held between Canterbury’s IT 
representatives and Tascomi, our back-office provider to ensure a well-
planned data capture and integration can take place and that both 
parties have the necessary resources to accommodate this ambitious 
proposed starting date. 

2.9. To ensure the project and programme is fully explored a project 
manager was appointed by Canterbury at the end of February and 
following planned meetings with her in March and April, we will be in a 
better position to advise Members at the Annual General Meeting in 
June as the viability of the proposal. 

3. Financial Implications

3.1. None at this stage.

4. Legal Implications

4.1. None at this stage. 

5. Risk Management

5.1. There needs to be strict adherence to timelines and the provision of 
information from all parties together with a commitment at the highest 
level to ensure any issues raised in the project can be speedily 
overcome and productive officer time is maximised. Without such 
commitment there is a risk of officers spending a great deal of time on 
the project coming to fruition. 

5.2. In parallel to this proposal there is also a possibility of Canterbury joining 
an East Kent Super Council in which case the building control function 
could be absorbed by amalgamation into that council and again officer 
time working on this project would have been wasted.

6. Recommendation

6.1. Members are asked to note the contents of the report and request 
Steering Group meet with seniors officers at Canterbury City Council to 
provide the necessary assurance that this project is viable.

7. Suggested Reason for Decision

7.1. Through Joint Committee’s monitoring role they need to be fully informed 
of progress towards further expansion.

Page 35



Lead officer contact

Tony Van Veghel, Director, South Thames Gateway Building Control 
Partnership, Foord Annexe, Eastgate House, High Street, Rochester, ME1 
1EW
Tel: 01634 331552
E-mail: tony.vanveghel@stgbc.org.uk 

Background papers

None

Page 36

mailto:tony.vanveghel@stgbc.org.uk


Document is Restricted

Page 37 Agenda Item 10



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 49



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2 Minutes
	5 Report on the Mid-Kent Audit of the STG Building Control Partnership carried out on behalf of Swale BC
	SBC-OR01(16-17) FINAL Building Control Partnership (2)

	6 Schedule of STG Joint Committee meetings 2017/18
	7 Interim report on progress towards expansion of the STG Building Control partnership
	10 Monitoring Report Nov 2016-Jan 2017
	STG Case Study v0.2 2 Feb 2017


